### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CITY OF RENO,

Appellant,

VS.

TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA INC.: ENDÓ HEALTH SOLUTIONS, INĆ.; ENDO PHARMACEUTICALS ALLERGAN USA, INC.; ALLERGA ACTAVIS FINANCE, LLC F/K/A INC. WATSON PHARMACEUTICALS ACTAVIS PHARMACY, INC. F/K/A WATSON PHARMA, INC.; ACTAVIS LLC,

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. Electronically Filed Apr 15 2023 02:33 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

**District Court Case No.:** 

CV18-01895

### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Robert T. Eglet, Esq.
Robert M. Adams, Esq.
Cassandra S.M. Cummings, Esq.
Richard K. Hy, Esq.
EGLET ADAMS

400 S. 7th Street, 4th Floor Las Vegas, NV 89101 Tel: (702) 450-5400

Fax: (702) 450-5451

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENTv
ROUTING STATEMENTv
STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEALv
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT6
ARGUMENT6
I. Standard of Review6
II. The District Court Erred in its Interpretation and Application of this Court's
2021 Ruling on the Petition for Writ of Mandamus7
A. The District Court Disregarded the City's Arguments Based on its Local
Harms Based on its Faulty Interpretation of this Court's Ruling11
B. The District Court Went Beyond the Mandates on Remand
III. The Opioid Epidemic's Unique Financial Impact on the City of Reno is a
"Matter of Local Concern" Pursuant to NRS 268.00315

A. NRS 268.003(2)(a) Specifically Lists "Issues of Public Health" as Matters
of Local Concern16
B. The City of Reno's Harms and Damages are Unique to the City18
C. The City of Reno's Litigation Does Not Concern any of the Three Areas
Listed in NRS 268.003(1)(c)23
1. The City of Reno's Harms Cannot be Addressed through Uniform
Regulation
2. The City of Reno is Not Seeking to Regulate Business Activities25
IV. Conclusion26
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE29

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# **CASES**

### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) because the district court's August 26, 2022 Order, electronically served on the same date, is a final order resolving all claims between all parties. The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on September 26, 2022 pursuant to NRAP 4(a).

### ROUTING STATEMENT

This case falls into the category of NRAP 17(a)(11) and NRAP 17(a)(12) as a case of first impression where a decision by the Court may expressly determine whether a city's litigation meets the definition of "matter of local concern" contained within NRS 268.003, such that the city has the authority pursuant to NRS 268.001 to initiate and maintain such litigation.

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Whether the district court erroneously concluded that the local impact of the opioid epidemic on the City of Reno and the City of Reno's harms cannot be a "matter of local concern" pursuant to NRS 268.003.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of the City of Reno's lawsuit against Respondent opioid manufacturers in which the City seeks to recover damages associated with the harms it incurred as a result of the opioid epidemic. In its lawsuit, the City of Reno alleges that Respondents engaged in deceptive marketing of its opioid products and failed to monitor and stop suspicious opioid orders. The City alleges that Respondents' conduct was a substantial contributing factor in the creation and continuation of the opioid epidemic that uniquely impacted the City and caused the City significant harms. This is an appeal from the district court's order granting the Respondents' Renewed Motion to Dismiss on the grounds that the City of Reno's litigation does not involve a "matter of local concern" as defined in NRS 268.003, thus depriving the City of the power to pursue the litigation.

### STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

The City of Reno filed its original Complaint on September 18, 2018, seeking recovery for the substantial costs it incurred due to Respondents' conduct. Vol. 1, APP00001-00058. On December 3, 2018, the City of Reno filed its First Amended Complaint ("FAC"), including the following causes of action against the Respondents: public nuisance, common law public nuisance, negligence, and negligent misrepresentation. Vol. 1, APP00059-00117. As with the original

Complaint, the FAC contains numerous allegations against Respondents regarding their conduct that led to the creation and continuation of the opioid epidemic, which caused significant harm to the City. Vol. 1, APP00059-00117. The City of Reno seeks to hold Respondents accountable for the "misrepresentations and the harms caused to the City of Reno as well as its residents thus giving rise to this lawsuit." Vol. 1, APP00097:6-7.

Respondents, along with the other manufacturer defendants, filed a Motion to Dismiss the FAC on March 4, 2019, arguing in relevant part that the opioid epidemic, and its resulting harms, are not a "matter of local concern," as that term is defined in NRS 268.003. Vol. 1, APP00128:5-00130:11. Respondents further argued that pursuant to NRS 268.001, the City of Reno lacks the authority to initiate and maintain litigation related to the opioid epidemic and its resulting harms because they are not "matters of local concern." *Id.* The City of Reno opposed the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss and a hearing was held on January 7, 2020. Vol. 2-3, APP00156-00478.

The district court took the matter under advisement and entered an Order on February 14, 2020, which contained two (2) rulings regarding NRS 268.001's application: first, the district court found that the common law Dillon's Rule, which was codified in NRS 268.001, "does not contemplate, and therefore does not limit, the City's ability to litigate;" and second, that the City of Reno stated "a cognizable

local concern by virtue of the impact the alleged conduct has had on its citizens' health, safety and welfare, including the concomitant stress placed on its police, fire, and social services." Vol. 7, APP00799:5-13.

Respondents filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus on the portion of the district court's February 14, 2020 ruling addressing NRS 268.001, NRS 268.003, and Dillon's Rule. PETITIONERS' PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS, Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc., et al. v. Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, Case No. 81121 ("Case No. 81121"), Doc. No. 20-16735. The City of Reno filed an Answer to the Writ, Respondents filed a Reply as well as a Supplemental Reply, and argument was heard on January 5, 2021. CITY OF RENO'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS, Case No. 81121, Doc. No. 20-23597; PETITIONERS' REPLY IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS, Case No. 81121, Doc. No. 20-26950; Petitioners' Supplemental Reply in Support of PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS, Case No. 81121, Doc. No. 20-34461. After oral argument, the Nevada Supreme Court requested supplemental briefing, which the Parties completed in March 2021. PETITIONERS' SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS, Case No. 81121, Doc. No. 21-04571; CITY OF RENO'S RESPONSE TO SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS, Case No. 81121, Doc. No. 21-06746; PETITIONERS' SUPPLEMENTAL

REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS, Case No. 81121, Doc. No. 21-07514.

On July 29, 2021, the Nevada Supreme Court issued an Opinion granting the Petition for Writ of Mandamus in Part and Denying in Part. *Endo Health Sols. Inc. v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 492 P.3d 565, 137 Nev. Adv. Rep. 39 (2021) (Case No. 81121). After determining that Dillon's Rule applies to a City's ability to pursue litigation, the Court considered whether the district court erred in finding that the City of Reno's opioid litigation addressed matters of local concern. *Id.* at 570. This Court stated:

The district court concluded that the City's lawsuit was a matter of local concern but did so based upon its own definition of that term, not NRS 268.003's definition. The district court reasoned that "Reno states a cognizable local concern by virtue of the impact the alleged conduct has had on its citizens' health, safety and welfare, including the concomitant stress placed on its police, fire, and social services." We conclude that this was erroneous. The district court was required to strictly apply the statutory definition of "matter of local concern" as set forth in NRS 268.003 to determine if the City's lawsuit meets that definition. If the lawsuit does not meet that definition, then the City does not have the authority to maintain the underlying action.

### *Id.* at 571.

Accordingly, the Court granted the Petition in part and directed the district court to "reconsider the motion to dismiss and, in so doing, apply the definition of a 'matter of local concern,' as set forth in NRS 268.003, to the City's claims." *Id.* The Court denied the Petitioners' request for a writ of mandamus compelling the district

court to dismiss the lawsuit in its entirety. *Id.*, PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS, Case No. 81121, Doc. No. 20-16735.

After remand, the District Court asked the parties for supplemental briefing regarding whether the City of Reno's opioid litigation raised matters of local concern pursuant to the definition set forth in NRS 268.003. Respondents submitted their brief on November 29, 2021, the City of Reno submitted its briefing on January 13, 2022<sup>1</sup>, and Respondents' reply was filed on February 14, 2022. Vol. 11, APP01433-01449; Vol. 11, APP01453-01464; Vol. 11, APP01465-01477. The district court heard oral argument on August 2, 2022. On August 26, 2022, the district court entered an Order dismissing the City of Reno's complaint stating:

While the Court is cognizant of Plaintiff's passionate argument that the financial impact of the opioid epidemic on the City of Reno is unique – a position which resonated with the Court in advance of entry of its initial Order – the higher court decision leaves no doubt that this analysis was flawed.

### Vol. 11, APP01535:19-22.

The City of Reno timely filed its Notice of Appeal on September 26, 2022. Vol. 11, APP01539-01545. Specifically, the City of Reno appeals the district court's application of this Court's ruling on the Petition for Writ of Mandamus and the application of NRS 268.003 on the facts of the underlying litigation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Exhibit 1 to the City's Supplemental Brief, the One Nevada Agreement, is not attached with the supplemental brief. The Agreement is attached as its own exhibit. *See* Vol. 11, APP01385-01442.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court erroneously concluded that this Court's Ruling in *Endo Health Sols. Inc. v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 492 P.3d 565, 137 Nev. Adv. Rep. 39 (2021) (Case No. 81121) expressly rejected the City of Reno's argument that its unique harms and damages resulting from the opioid epidemic are "matters of local concern," pursuant to NRS 268.003. Further, the district court erred in rejecting the City of Reno's arguments regarding its unique local harms and damages and, therefore, committed an error when it dismissed the City of Reno's lawsuit for failing to allege a "matter of local concern" as defined in NRS 268.003.

### **ARGUMENT**

### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

This Court reviews de novo an order granting an NRCP 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss, accepting all factual allegations in the complaint as true and drawing all inferences in the appellant's favor. *Luckett v. Brother Mfg. Corp.*, 128 Nev. 914, 381 P.3d 636 (2012). In *Conway v. Circus Circus Casinos, Inc.*, the Court explained,

The standard of review for dismissal under NRCP 12(b)(5) is rigorous as this court "must construe the pleading liberally and draw every fair intendment in favor of the [non-moving party]." In doing so, we accept all factual allegations contained in the Complaint as true. We will not affirm a district court's dismissal of a complaint for failure to state a claim "unless it appears beyond a doubt that the plaintiff could prove no set of facts which, if accepted by the trier of fact, would entitle him [or her] to relief."

116 Nev. 870, 874, 8 P.3d 837, 839 (2000) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). Like the district court, this Court must accept all facts alleged by Plaintiffs as true and draw all inferences in favor of the Plaintiffs. *See Fitzgerald v. Mobile Billboards, LLC*, 134 Nev. 231, 231, 416 P.3d 209, 210 (2018).

Similarly, the question of whether a district court complied with this Court's mandate on remand is a question of law reviewed de novo. *State Eng'r v. Eureka Cty.*, 133 Nev. 557, 559, 402 P.3d 1249, 1251 (2017) (citing *Wheeler Springs Plaza v. Beemon*, 119 Nev. 260, 263, 71 P.3d 1258, 1260 (2003)). "[W]here an appellate court deciding an appeal states a principal or rule of law, necessary to the decision, the principal or rule of law becomes the law of the case and must be adhered to throughout its subsequent progress." *Lo Bue v. State*, 92 Nev. 529, 532, 554 P.2d 258, 260 (1976). District courts must "proceed in accordance with the mandate and the law of the case as established on appeal," and commits error if its subsequent orders contradict the directions from the appellate court. *State Eng'r v. Eureka Cty.*, 133 Nev. at 559, 402 P.3d at 1251.

# II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ITS INTERPRETATION AND APPLICATION OF THIS COURT'S 2021 RULING ON THE PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS.

In the district court's February 14, 2020 Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part the Motions to Dismiss, the court considered whether Dillon's Rule applied

to a city's authority to maintain litigation, and, if so, whether the City's litigation addressed a "matter of local concern." Vol. 7, APP00795-00799. Importantly, the district court first concluded that neither the common law Dillon's Rule nor the modified Dillon's Rule contained in NRS 268.001 applies to a city's authority to pursue litigation. Vol. 7, APP00799:15-16. If NRS 268.001 does not apply to bar litigation, as the district court previously determined, then it was not necessary for the district court to engage in a lengthy analysis of whether the City's lawsuit involved a matter of local concern pursuant to NRS 268.003.

Nevertheless, the district court included the following statement in its February 2020 Order: "the City of Reno is not seeking relief on behalf of the State, and further, the relief sought by the State addresses alleged wrongs, theories, and damages not pursued in this case." *Id.* at APP00799:9-11. The district court continued, "Rather, Reno states a cognizable local concern by virtue of the impact the alleged conduct has had on its citizens' health, safety and welfare, including the concomitant stress placed on its police, fire, and social services." *Id.* at APP00799:11-13. Thus, the court ruled that the City of Reno's litigation could proceed notwithstanding common law Dillon's Rule and NRS 268.001. *Id.* at APP00799:15-16.

In the 2021 ruling granting Respondents' Petition for Writ of Mandamus in Part and Denying it in Part, this Court held that "the modified Dillons' Rule applies

to a city's power to bring lawsuits, and the district court's conclusion to the contrary was erroneous." *Endo Health Sols., Inc. v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 492 P.3d 565, 570, 137 Nev. Adv. Rep. 39 (2021) (Case No. 81121) ("*Endo*"). Next, this Court stated it must "determine whether the City has demonstrated that it has the power to bring the lawsuit." *Id.* After determining that the City had not identified any express or implied power granting it the authority to initiate the subject litigation, "[t]he question remains, then, whether the City's lawsuit falls within the definition of a 'matter of local concern." *Id.* 

Critically, this Court is aware of the City's arguments that the opioid epidemic's unique impact on the City is a matter of local concern. The City of Reno's argument on this matter has been consistent since the briefing on the motions to dismiss. In fact, the City raised the same argument in its Answer to the Petition for Writ of Mandamus and argued the issue before this Court on January 5, 2021. CITY OF RENO'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS, Case No. 81121, Doc. No. 20-23597, at p. 2; Vol. 8, APP01022:4-11. If this Court did not believe that the unique impact of the opioid epidemic on the City of Reno could be a "matter of local concern," this Court could have ruled as such.

Respondents' requested relief in their 2020 Petition was for a writ of mandamus compelling the district court to dismiss the City of Reno's lawsuit "in its entirety as *ultra vires* under Dillon's Rule." PETITIONERS' REPLY IN SUPPORT OF

PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS, Case No. 81121, Doc. No. 20-26950, at p. xi. This Court denied Respondents' request for such a writ, recognizing that "[t]he subject matter of the City's lawsuit <u>may constitute</u> a matter of local concern." *Endo*, 492 P.3d at 570. Though this Court could have compelled the district court to dismiss the City's lawsuit because the City had not, and could not, allege a "matter of local concern," it determined that the issue of local concern was still an open question. *Id*.

This Court did not make any statement regarding whether the City's unique harms could be a matter of local concern. Instead, this Court ruled:

The district court concluded that the City's lawsuit was a matter of local concern but did so based upon its own definition of that term, not NRS 268.003's definition. The district court reasoned that 'Reno states a cognizable local concern by virtue of the impact the alleged conduct has had on its citizens' health, safety and welfare, including the concomitant stress placed on its police, fire, and social services.' We conclude that this was erroneous. The district court was required to strictly apply the statutory definition of 'matter of local concern' as set forth in NRS 268.003 to determine if the City's lawsuit meets that definition.

Endo, 492 P.3d at 571 (2021) (Case No. 81121).

Reading this Court's opinion as written, the error this Court identified was not in the district court's finding that the City's harms are a matter of local concern. *Id.*The district court's error was in its failure to "strictly apply the statutory definition of 'matter of local concern' as set forth in NRS 268.003." *Id.* 

# A. The District Court Disregarded the City's Arguments Based on its Local Harms Based on its Faulty Interpretation of this Court's Ruling.

The district court, however, reached a different conclusion. After the matter was remanded, the district court directed the parties to provide supplemental briefing focusing on the definition of "matter of local concern," contained in NRS 268.003. Respondents argued in the Reply in Support of their Supplemental Brief:

Although the City asserts that the Supreme Court 'state[d] that this Court may consider damages and local impact so long as it applies the statutory test,' . . . the Supreme Court 'conclude[d] that [it] was erroneous' for this Court to 'reason[] that 'Reno states a cognizable local concern by virtue of the impact the alleged conduct has had on its citizens' health, safety, and welfare, including the concomitant stress placed on its police, fire, and social services.' *Endo*, 492 P.3d at 571. The only logical interpretation of that statement is that the nature of the City's alleged damages is not a proper consideration in applying the local 'impact' requirement of NRS 268.003(1)(a).

## Vol. 11, APP01468:8-15 (emphasis added).

By rearranging the sentences, Respondents changed the meaning of this Court's 2021 ruling. This Court did not rule that it was erroneous for the district court to consider the City's harms when determining that the litigation raised issues of local concern. It concluded that it was erroneous for the district court to utilize its own definition of "matter of local concern" instead of utilizing the statutory definition. *Endo*, 492 P.3d at 565.

The district court adopted this erroneous interpretation of this Court's 2021 ruling, stating: "[h]aving reviewed the matter anew considering the Nevada Supreme Court's directive, this Court is now convinced the alleged wrongdoing in Plaintiff's Complaint fails to meet the definition of local concern as contemplated by Nevada's modified Dillon's Rule." Vol. 11, APP01532:11-15 (emphasis added). In so doing, the district court only considered the City's allegations regarding the Respondents' alleged wrongdoing and their business activities. *See e.g. id.* at APP01532:18-19 ("[t]his conduct is not a matter of local concern."), APP01533:12 ("Plaintiff's claims are not unique."), APP01533:23-24 ("the alleged wrongful conduct in Plaintiff's lawsuit fails to satisfy the first aspect of the definition of mater [sic] of local concern as defined in NRS 268.003(1)(a)."), APP01534:15, 20-21 (references to the "alleged wrongful conduct.").

Any doubt as to the district court's interpretation of this Court's 2021 ruling on Respondents' Petition for Writ of Mandamus is resolved by the district court's conclusion in its August 26, 2022 Order. The district court concludes:

While the court is cognizant of Plaintiff's passionate argument that the financial impact of the opioid epidemic on the City of Reno is unique – a position which resonated with the Court in advance of entry of its initial Order – the higher court decision leaves <u>no doubt that this analysis was flawed</u>.

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