#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

CITY OF RENO,	)
Appellant,	Electronically Filed Jun 06 2023 04:50 PM Elizabeth A. Brown
Vs.	Clerk of Supreme Court  Supreme Court No. 85412
TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA,	)
INC.; CEPHALON, INC.; ENDO	) District Court Case No.: CV18-01895
PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.;	)
ALLERGAN USA, INC.;	)
ALLERGAN FINANCE, LLC K/K/A	)
ACTAVIS INC. F/K/A WATSON	)
PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.;	)
ACTAVIS PHARMACY, INC. F/K/A	)
WATSON PHARMA, INC.; AND	)
ACTAVIS LLC,	)
	)
Respondents.	

### **RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF**

PHILIP M. HYMANSON, ESQ. HYMANSON & HYMANSON PLLC Nevada State Bar No. 2253 8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue

Las Vegas, NV 89148

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

A. Endo Rejected the City's Argument That The "Local Impact" Of The Statewide Opioid Abuse Crisis Establishes A "Matter of Local Concern."

In *Endo*, this Court held that the district court's conclusion that the City established a "matter of local concern" based solely on the "impact the alleged conduct" had on the City was "erroneous." *Endo*, 137 Nev. at 396-97. On remand, the district court correctly found that *Endo* foreclosed the City's argument that the alleged local impact of the opioid abuse crisis on the City meets the definition of a "matter of local concern," but gave the City an opportunity to present an alternative argument using the correct statutory definition in supplemental briefing.<sup>35</sup> The City did not do so. As the City admits, its only argument is that "the opioid epidemic's unique impact on the City is a matter of local concern." City Br. 9. That is the same argument this Court rejected in *Endo*. City Br. 9.

The City nevertheless labors to reinterpret *Endo* to escape this Court's rejection of its only argument. To that end, the City contends that the district court misread *Endo* and, as a result, "went beyond [this Court's] mandate" and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> City App., Vol. XI at APP01535.

"matter of local concern." City Br. 13. According to the City, the district court's only error in *Endo* was inventing its own definition of "matter of local concern," and while this Court required the district court to apply the statutory definition on remand, it did not reject the notion that local impacts alone may establish a "matter of local concern." *Id.* at 15. As the City sees it, if this Court "did not believe that the unique impact of the opioid epidemic on the City of Reno could be a 'matter of local concern,' this Court would have ruled as such." *Id.* at 9.

This Court *did rule as such*. *Endo*, 137 Nev. at 396-97. *Endo* held that the district court's invented definition of a "matter of local concern" was wrong precisely because the district court replaced the statutory test with its own conclusion that a "matter of local concern" can be shown "by virtue of the impact of the alleged conduct" on the City. *Id.* at 571. If this Court had agreed that local impacts alone, without any consideration of the conduct that caused the local impacts or whether that conduct caused impacts more broadly, could establish a "matter of local concern," then it would have *affirmed*—notwithstanding the district court's failure to follow the statutory definition. *See LVCVA v. Secretary of State*, 124 Nev. 669, 689 n. 58, 191 P.3d 1138, 1151 n. 58 (2008) ("[W]e will affirm the district court if it reaches the right result, even when it does so for the wrong reason."). That this Court *did not affirm* means that the district court *did not reach the correct result*.

To be sure, this Court found that "[t]he subject matter of the City's lawsuit *may constitute* a matter of local concern." *Endo*, 137 Nev. at 319 (emphasis added). But that does not mean that the district court was free to commit the same error on remand by focusing exclusively on the local impact of state-wide conduct. The remand for further proceedings gave the City an opportunity to present a different "matter of local concern" argument that this Court had not already rejected and permitted the trial court to apply the correct statutory test to the "subject matter of the City's lawsuit," *i.e.*, to Manufacturers' allegedly wrongful marketing and manufacturing of opioids. *Id*.

The City declined that opportunity, however, and merely recycled the same rejected argument that "the unique impact of the opioid epidemic on the City of Reno" is a "matter of local concern." Accordingly, the district court properly ruled against the City and dismissed its complaint under Dillon's Rule.

### B. The Text of Dillon's Rule Forecloses the City's Argument.

Even if this Court had not rejected the City's argument in *Endo*, interpreting the plain text of NRS 268.003 compels the same conclusion. "In interpreting a statute, this court looks to the plain language of the statute, and if that language is clear, this court does not go beyond it." *Valenti v. State, Dep't of Motor Vehicles*, 131 Nev. 875, 879, 362 P.3d 83, 85 (2015). But "when the Legislature has addressed a matter with imperfect clarity, it becomes this court's responsibility to discern the

law," and the Court will "resolve any doubts as to the Legislature's intent in favor of what is reasonable." *Pankopf v. Peterson*, 124 Nev. 43, 46, 175 P.3d 910, 912 (2008).

This Court further "interpret[s] statutory provisions to avoid unreasonable or absurd results," *Artmor Invs., LLC v. Nye Cnty.*, 138 Nev. Adv. Op. 53, 512 P.3d 1249, 1250 (2022), and, in construing a statute's text, gives "its terms their plain meaning, considering its provisions as a whole so as to read them in a way that would not render words or phrases superfluous or make a provision nugatory." *S. Nev. Homebuilders Ass'n v. Clark Cnty.*, 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005) (internal quotation marks omitted).

All of the City's arguments are founded on its faulty interpretation that the "unique harms it suffered as a result of the opioid epidemic within the City" by themselves "meet the definition of 'matter of local concern' contained in NRS 268.003." City Br. 16. The City's interpretation is incompatible with the plain text of NRS 268.003 and must be rejected.

A "matter of local concern" is "any matter" that "primarily affects or impacts" a city and that satisfies NRS 268.003's other conditions. *Id.* To determine whether a city has the power to regulate a "matter" therefore requires courts to assess the full scope of the impacts *caused by the "matter.*" Courts must consider whether the "matter" the city seeks to regulate: (i) "[p]rimarily affects or impacts" persons or

areas within the city; and (ii) "does not have a significant effect or impact on areas located in other cities or counties." NRS 268.003(1)(a). If either condition is unmet, then the "matter" is not a "matter of local concern" and beyond the city's power to regulate. *Cf. State Dep't of Emp., Training & Rehabilitation, Emp. Security Div. v. Reliable Health Care Servs. of S. Nevada, Inc.*, 115 Nev. 253, 257–58, 983 P.2d 414, 417 (1999). It necessarily follows from this structure that a "matter" must be distinct from its "impacts," including any "local impacts" the "matter" causes. Otherwise, the definition would be nonsensically circular.

The remaining sections of NRS 268.003 further support that construction. For example, as discussed above, a city may regulate a "matter" if it *primarily* impacts the city and does not substantially impact any other city or county. NRS 268.003. But even where a "matter" *primarily* impacts a city, the "matter" nevertheless still may not be a "matter of local concern"—if, for example, it is a business activity substantially regulated by a state or federal agency. *See* NRS 268.003(c)(2). In that circumstance, the local impacts of the "matter" on the city are irrelevant.

For another example, NRS 268.003(2)(a) identifies "[p]ublic health, safety and welfare in the city" as an "illustrative" example of a "matter of local concern." NRS 268.003(3) makes clear, however, that the reference to "public health" neither limits nor expands the definition of "matter of local concern" in NRS 268.003(1). A city therefore has the power to regulate a public health "matter" of only if it primarily

impacts the city, does not substantially impact other cities, does not require statewide uniformity, and does not concern the regulation of business activities subject to substantial state and federal regulations. That there are local public health impacts within the city is a part of the analysis, but it is not dispositive.

In these ways, the text and structure of NRS 268.003 conclusively establish that local impacts caused by a "matter" are *necessary* to find a "matter of local concern," but contrary to the City's argument, local impacts alone cannot be *sufficient* to find a "matter of local concern."

As a matter of straightforward statutory construction, therefore, the City's repetitive assertion that the local impacts of the State's opioid abuse crisis are "unique" is irrelevant. *E.g.*, City Br. at 18-22. The word "unique" does not appear in NRS 268.003, and nothing in the statute creates a separate category of "unique local impacts" that supersede the statutory requirements and are a "matter of local concern." Nor does the City cite any authority (there being none) that supports its "unique local impacts" argument.

Adopting the City's flawed construction of NRS 268.003 should also be rejected because it would produce absurd results and destroy the effectiveness of Nevada's modified Dillon's Rule. As the City acknowledges, "no two cities have been impacted by the opioid epidemic in the same way and cities will not have the same damages." City Br. 19. In other words, the City contends that all "local

impacts" are *unique* because they occur in different places. This point illustrates exactly why the City's interpretation must be wrong. If the City were correct that "unique local impacts" satisfy the definition of a "matter of local concern," Dillon's Rule would have no force or effect because every city in Nevada would be empowered to regulate any "matter" that caused local impacts in the city, irrespective of statewide interests, statewide conduct, and statewide regulation. That scenario is exactly what Dillon's Rule exists to prevent. *See* NRS 268.001 ("Dillon's Rule serves an important function in defining the powers of city government and remains a vital component of Nevada law.").

## C. The District Court Correctly Held That Allegedly Wrongful Promotion and Manufacturing of Opioids Does Not Primarily Impact the City and Significantly Impacts Other Localities in the State.

For all the reasons discussed above, the district court correctly understood NRS 268.003's term "matter" as referring to the conduct or activity that a city seeks to regulate.<sup>36</sup> With that understanding, the district court easily concluded from the City's own pleadings that the "matter" alleged by the City—the allegedly wrongful production and promotion of opioids in the State—did not primarily impact the City, had wide effects across the State, and therefore is not a "matter of local concern."

\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> City App., Vol. XI at APP01532 (finding that "Defendants' promotion, distribution, and marketing of opioids in the State of Nevada ... is not a matter of local concern.").

The City argues that the district court erred because it "disregarded the City's arguments based on its local harms" and "only considered the City's allegations regarding [Manufacturers'] alleged wrongdoing and their business activities," but this is untrue. City Br. 11-12. Neither the district court nor Manufacturers ever contended that it would be "erroneous for the district court to consider the City's harms when determining" whether the City's litigation raises a "matter of local concern." *Id.* at 11. To the contrary, as discussed above, when courts assess whether a city has the power to regulate a "matter," NRS 268.003 expressly *requires* courts to consider the "matter's" local impacts. However, as established, that is only one part of the analysis. Courts also must assess the full nature and scope of the impacts of the "matter," including whether the impacts go beyond the confines of the city.

On remand, the district court properly considered Nevada's arguments about its purportedly "unique" local harms as required by NRS 268.003(1)(a), and correctly found that the City's local harms resulted from a "matter" that did not primarily impact the City and that significantly impacted other communities across the State. Contrary to the City's mischaracterizations that the district court "refused to entertain the City's argument" and "predetermined that the City's harms and damages could not be considered," City Br. 13, the district court carefully considered the City's arguments about its local harms and found them compelling. The district

court nevertheless correctly found it was constrained by NRS 268.003 to conclude that the City's lawsuit does not involve a "matter of local concern."<sup>37</sup>

# D. The District Court Correctly Held That The City's Action Implicates Business Activity That Is Substantially Regulated By State And Federal Agencies.

The City admits that it is "seeking to recover damages caused by [Manufacturers] when they violated regulations related to opioid marketing and opioid sales." City Br. 25. The "regulations" to which the City refers are comprehensive regulations enforced by the State and federal governments that control the manufacturing, sale, marketing, and distribution of opioids. The district court accordingly found that the City's suit does not raise a "matter of local concern" because it necessarily concerns the "regulation of business activities that are subject to substantial regulation by a federal or state agency." NRS 268.003(1)(c)(2).<sup>38</sup> All of the City's arguments for reversal of the district court's straightforward ruling are demonstrably wrong.

First, the City argues that it does not seek to regulate Manufacturers' business activities because it is "not asking this Court to stop [Manufacturers] from manufacturing or marketing opioids within the State of Nevada." City Br. at 25. Regulation is not limited to stopping a business activity entirely; regulation means

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> City App., Vol. XI at APP01535.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> City App., Vol. XI at APP01532-01534.

controlling the manner in which a business activity is conducted. And that, in fact, is *exactly* what the City seeks to do—the City's complaint expressly states that the City seeks "to stop [Manufacturers'] promotion and marketing of opioids *for inappropriate uses*." This is prohibited "regulation of business activities that are subject to substantial regulation by a federal or state agency" because deciding whether uses of opioids are appropriate or inappropriate and how opioids should be marketed are matters regulated by state and federal agencies—not by the City (or by the courts). NRS 268.003(1)(c)(2).

Second, the City similarly argues that Dillon's Rule is inapplicable because the City primarily (though not exclusively) seeks damages to remedy the harms caused by the opioid abuse crisis rather than to regulate Manufacturers' conduct. City Br. 25. But this argument was rejected in Endo when this Court held that Dillon's Rule applies to "a city's power to bring lawsuits" to the same extent as passing regulations. Endo, 137 Nev. at 392, 395. The City's argument also rests on the false premise that suing for damages is not a form of regulation. In fact, "regulation can be as effectively exerted through an award of damages," and the "obligation to pay compensation can be, indeed is designed to be, a potent method

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> City App., Vol. VII at APP00981 (Second. Am. Compl. ("SAC"), Prayer for Relief, ¶ 8) (emphasis added).

of governing conduct and controlling policy." San Diego Bldg. Trades Council, Millmen's Un., Local 2020 v. Garmon, 359 U.S. 236, 247 (1959).

Third, the City's assertion that "there is no federal or state regulation dictating how the City must address its opioid-related harms" is misplaced. City Br. at 25. State or federal regulations governing the City's conduct are not the issue. Dillon's Rule precludes the City from filing lawsuits targeting "business activities" subject to "substantial regulation by a federal or state agency." NRS 268.003(1)(c)(2). That is the case here.

Finally, the City argues that the district court erroneously "focus[ed] on the Manufacturers' business activities [and] ignore[d] the fact that the City's harms and damages must be remedied within the City." City Br. at 25. The district court correctly focused on Manufacturers' "business activities" because that is what the statute requires—it states that a "matter" is not one of "local concern" if it involves the "regulation of business activities that are subject to substantial regulation by a federal or state agency." NRS 268.003(1)(c)(2) (emphasis added). The section says nothing about considering a city's "harms and damages" and to do so would have been error.

The district court correctly found that this case "concern[s] business activities substantially regulated by multiple federal agencies and a state agency." NRS

268.003(1)(c)(2).<sup>40</sup> The judgment of dismissal should be affirmed for this reason alone.

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